CITY COUNCIL (DRAFT)

February 26, 2025

CITY OF ESSEX JUNCTION CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES REGULAR MEETING TUESDAY FBERUARY 26, 2025

COUNCILORS: Raj Chawla, President; Amber Thibeault, Vice-President; Marcus Certa; Elaine Haney; Tim Miller

ADMINISTRATION and STAFF: Regina Mahoney, City Manager; Chelsea Mandigo, Water Quality Superintendent; Jess Morris, Finance Director; Chris Yuen, Community Development Director

OTHERS: Bethany Clark, Heidi Clark, George Dunbar, Stephen Wille Padnos, Grant Patterson, Andy Rowe, Resa

1. CALL TO ORDER

Mr. Chawla called the meeting of the City Council to order at 6:30 PM.

2. AGENDA ADDITIONS/ CHANGES

None.

3. APPROVE AGENDA

No changes, thus no approval required.

4. PUBLIC TO BE HEARD

a. Comments for Public on Items not on Agenda

Mr. Dunbar asked when the audit report will be presented, Ms. Morris said that this should be posted to the website later this week and be presented to the Council on March 12. He said that Essex Junction has a significantly higher tax rate than other surrounding communities. He said that separation was expected to reduce taxes, and not doing so will erode the public's trust in the City government. He questioned what happened to these promised savings and said that it appears that the tax rate is continuing to climb. Mr. Certa asked Mr. Dunbar to e-mail the Council his data points.

 Mr. Patterson said that he is the owner of the WNFC Esports Dojo. He said that his four-car parking lot has been totally blocked off due to the City plows pushing snow onto it. During the last storm, it made his business completely inaccessible due to a 3.5-foot wall of ice. Answering a question from Mr. Chawla, Mr. Patterson said that he does not believe that this is happening to other businesses. Mr. Chawla said that this will be investigated and that someone will respond to Mr. Patterson.

5. PUBLIC HEARING

a. Public Hearing on the Proposed Land Development Code Amendments

Mr. Chawla opened the public hearing.

Mr. Yuen said that the Land Development Code (LDC) is separate from the Transit-Oriented Development Master Plan. The LDC update is primarily technical adjustments and fixes. These include: a re-write of sign regulations, adjustment of residential density limits to meet statutory requirements and reduce barriers to small-scale housing construction, adjustment of site, dimensional and design standards for small-scale development, changes to stormwater regulations, regulation of food trucks, and the correction of technical inconsistencies. Sign regulations will be required to be content-neutral, and can only be regulated based on time, place, and manner. No changes are proposed to sandwich board signs. The 2023 Vermont HOME Act has required that areas served by municipal water and sewer allow up to fourplexes in the areas in which

CITY COUNCIL (DRAFT)

FEBRUARY 26, 2025

single-family homes are allowable. The number of units per lot has been increased from four to six units in the R-O and MF3 districts. The minimum front yard setback has been reduced in several districts, and up to two principal structures are allowable per lot. Mr. Yuen discussed special design standards in the R1/R2 to accommodate parking for triplexes and fourplexes. Triplexes and fourplexes will not be considered to be "multi-family" and thus will not require the additional buffering standards. Food trucks will have generator use very limited under the new regulations and generators cannot be run outside of daylight hours. Triplexes and fourplexes will be able to be administratively approved.

Mr. Chawla requested public comment. Mr. Dunbar asked how the new state statutes affect neighborhood covenants. Mr. Yuen said that they do not affect existing covenants. Mr. Dunbar said that additional units also create a sound impact.

Mr. Chawla closed the public hearing.

6. BUSINESS ITEMS

a. Interview and Consideration of Green Mountain Transit Alternate Member

Ms. Clark said that she grew up in Essex Junction, is a non-driver, and the transit system is very important to her. Mr. Chawla said that the Green Mountain Transit board typically meets during the weekday and asked if Mr. Clark would be able to attend these meetings. Ms. Clark said that she could make morning meetings as well as most mid-day meetings due to her flexible work schedule. Answering a question from Mr. Certa, Ms. Clark said, if nominated to the board, she would look towards partnerships or raising fares to avoid cutting access. Mr. Chawla said that the Council will decide and communicate it to Ms. Clark.

b. Finance Department and Capital Review Committee Brief to Council

Ms. Morris said that all separation details have been worked out, and that both municipalities have gone through their first tax billing process. The finance department is fully staffed and is in the process of finding efficiencies. Essex Junction had a successful audit for 2024. The Capital Committee has been working to update the multi-year Capital Plan. Ms. Morris said that she is on the Board of the Vermont Government Finance Officers Association (GOFA) and that the New England chapter will be holding their annual meeting in Vermont this year. Mr. Certa asked about training opportunities for other finance staff, and Ms. Morris explained the state-sponsored and NEMRC trainings available. She said that she is encouraging all finance staff to take advantage of GOFA training opportunities as well as network with counterparts in other communities.

c. Discussion and Consideration of Stormwater Related Ordinances – Amendments to Ordinance 19 (Stormwater Permit Transfer) and New Ordinance 20 (Stormwater Management)

Ms. Mandigo said that two public hearings were held in the fall regarding stormwater ordinance updates. Comments from the public are summarized and available for review. Mr. Haney asked when it would be determined if Global Foundries is exempt from the utility. Ms. Mahoney said that she is hopeful that this can be presented on March 12. Answering a question from Mr. Certa, Ms. Mahoney said that the purpose of establishing the stormwater utility is to make billing more equitable based on impervious surfaces amounts.

TIM MILLER made a motion, seconded by RAJ CHAWLA, that the City Council approve the amendments to Essex Junction Municipal Ordinance Chapter 19: An Ordinance Establishing Permit Transfer Authority for Expired and Unpermitted Discharges to Impaired Waterways; and Adopt Essex Junction Municipal Ordinance Chapter 20: An Ordinance Relating to Stormwater Management Regulations. Motion passed 5-0.

- 98 d. Discussion and Consideration of Land Development Code Amendments
- TIM MILLER made a motion, seconded by MARCUS CERTA, that the City Council approve the Land Development Code Amendments as presented. Motion passed 5-0.

101 102

- e. Discussion and Consideration of the FY26 General Fund Operating and Capital Budgets
- Ms. Mahoney said that there are very minimal changes in the budget due to county tax and a correction to
- the Local Option Tax fund. The proposed General Fund Budget is \$12,419,241; \$11,405,931 of which is to be levied in taxes against the City Grand List, which will need to be approved by voters. This represents a
- 106 2.6% increase. Ms. Mahoney said that stormwater funding has been moved into the stormwater utility. The
- enterprise budget will not be approved this evening.

108 109

TIM MILLER made a motion, seconded by RAJ CHAWLA, that the City Council approve the FY26 General Fund Operating and Capital Program Budgets as presented. Motion passed 5-0.

110 111

- 112 f. Discussion and Consideration of the Informational Hearing and Annual Meeting Warning
- This includes the general fund budget, bond vote for the pump station, and three separate elections.

114

115 RAJ CHAWLA made a motion, seconded by TIM MILLER, that the City Council approve the warning as drafted. Motion passed 5-0.

117 118

- g. Discussion and Consideration of an Executive Session to discuss Personnel
- 119 This was discussed during Executive Session.

120

- 121 6. CONSENT ITEMS
- 122 ELAINE HANEY made a motion, seconded by TIM MILLER, to approve the consent agenda. Motion

123 passed 5-0.

124

- 125 a. Approve Meeting Minutes: 2/3/2025 and 2/12/2025
- b. Acting as the Liquor Control Commission: Approve Liquor Licenses
- 127 c. Approve Memorial Park Policy Amendment
- d. Approve Essex Junction Little League Street Closure Application

129 130

- 7. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS & CITY MANAGER REPORT
- 131 None.

132

- 133 8. READING FILE
- 134 a. Check Warrant # 24069 2/21/25
- b. Police Community Advisory Board Minutes 1/21/25
- 136 c. Joint Planning Commission/City Council Minutes 2/6/25
- d. Board of Civil Authority Minutes 2/11/25
- e. Bike Walk Advisory Committee Minutes 2/13/25

139

- 140 9. EXECUTIVE SESSION
- b. An Executive Session may be needed to discuss the City Manager Evaluation and Contract
- 142 MARCUS CERTA made a motion, seconded by RAJ CHAWLA, that the City Council enter into
- executive session to discuss a personnel evaluation, pursuant to 1 V.S.A. § 313(a)(3) to include the City
- 144 Council and the City Manager. Motion passed 5-0.

145

CITY COUNCIL FEBRUARY 26, 2025 (DRAFT)

- a. An Executive Session may be needed for the Appointment of a Public Official
- 147 RAJ CHAWLA made a motion, seconded by ELAINE HANEY, that the City Council enter into
- Executive Session to discuss the appointment of public officials, pursuant to 1 V.S.A. § 313(a)(3) to
- include the City Manager. Motion passed 5-0.

150

AMBER THIBEAULT made a motion, seconded by TIM MILLER, to exit Executive Session. Motion passed 5-0 at 8:25 PM.

153

RAJ CHAWLA made a motion, seconded by MARCUS CERTA, to appoint Bethany Clark as an Alternate to the Green Mountain Transit Board of Commissioners with a term expiring on June 30, 2027. Motion passed 5-0.

157

- 158 **10. <u>ADJOURN</u>**
- Motion by RAJ CHAWLA, seconded by ELAINE HANEY, to adjourn. Motion passed 5-0 at 8:27 PM.

161

- 162 Respectfully Submitted,
- 163 Darby Mayville
- 164 Recording secretary

165

CITY OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VT MUNICIPAL CODE

CHAPTER 19

ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING STORMWATER PERMIT TRANSFER AUTHORITY FOR EXPIRED AND UNPERMITTED DISCHARGES TO IMPAIRED WATERWAYS

SECTION 1901. BACKGROUND

- A. Adopted on July 22, 2014, as Chapter 19 in the City of Essex Junction Municipal Code, to establish and transfer responsibility for the State of Vermont issued Department of Environmental Conservation authorization to discharge permits under general stormwater permits and for unpermitted discharges to impaired waterways within the City of Essex Junction.
- B. The Vermont Agency of Natural Resources Department of Environmental Conservation ("DEC") issues Authorization to Discharge Permits under General Permits for area or site-specific stormwater discharges to applicants, including municipalities, private parties, and shared stormwater systems involving both privately owned and publicly owned components.
- C. Valid stormwater system discharge permits have been issued by the DEC for projects in the non-impaired and impaired waterways within the City, and the City has accepted full responsibility for such permits when it involves public infrastructure.
- D. As of the adoption of Chapter 19 of the Municipal Code on July 22, 2014, valid stormwater system discharge permits have not been issued to expired stormwater permit holders in the impaired waterways due to the inability to legally authorize, under State law, renewal of the previously issued Authorization to Discharge Permits.
- E. Current responsibility for previously issued expired stormwater permits and valid stormwater system discharge permits in the impaired watersheds in the MS4 area varies widely. In some cases, there is a well-defined chain of responsibility from the "owner" of the original permit to the current permit holder. In other cases, permit responsibility is either poorly defined or non-existent notwithstanding that permit responsibility runs with the land. Some expired and valid (permit) discharges are defined in the original permit as directly to a stream or waterbody; in others, they are defined as being directed to or connected to a shared stormwater system.
- F. Pre-existing unpermitted stormwater discharges occur within the impaired and non-impaired waterways. These discharges were either never issued permits or the discharges occurred before DEC began issuing discharge permits. Pre-existing unpermitted stormwater discharges into impaired waterways shall obtain legal coverage under the MS4 general permit in the manner outlined in this Ordinance.
- G. The City of Essex Junction regulates stormwater discharges through its Municipal Code.

SECTION 1902. PURPOSE

A. The City seeks to develop consistent policies and procedures for the determination of stormwater permit responsibility for both valid stormwater system discharge permits, and expired stormwater permits, and to establish minimum requirements for the transfer of expired and future new permit responsibility by and between the appropriate parties.

B. The City's MS4 responsibility for the operation, repair, and maintenance of stormwater infrastructure extends only to public stormwater infrastructure and proportional shared responsibility on shared stormwater systems. The City may accept permit responsibility if determined by the appropriate legislative body to be in the City's best interest. Factors to be considered when determining whether acceptance of permit responsibility is in the City's "best interest" include, but are not limited to, whether improved water quality is not otherwise obtainable without additional City participation, potential cost savings to the City, or provision of land or easements for treatment or storage of stormwater for shared systems. The non-public contributing stormwater permittee shall be responsible for the operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, and upgrade of the non-public infrastructure unless the City determines that accepting some or all of this responsibility is in its best interests as defined above.

SECTION 1903. AUTHORITY

For purposes of this Ordinance, the "appropriate legislative body" for the City is the City Council.

SECTION 1904. DEFINITIONS

- "Authorization to Discharge Permits" shall mean permits issued by the State of Vermont to discharge stormwater into receiving water bodies, which may or may not be valid permits at the time of adoption of this Ordinance.
- "Best Management Practices" or "BMPs" shall mean any structural or non-structural site improvements recognized as the most effective and practical means to prevent and reduce stormwater volumes and flows to achieve water quality goals. BMPs include measures to prevent pollution and measures to mitigate pollution. BMPs include schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, pollution prevention, education practices, natural resource protection, maintenance and operating procedures, management and treatment practices, and measures to control site runoff, spills, or leaks and reduce pollution.
- **"Expired stormwater permits"** shall mean stormwater permits previously issued by the State of Vermont that are no longer current.
- "Flow Restoration Plan(s)" shall mean a stream flow plan required by the State of Vermont designed to implement stormwater runoff controls producing runoff characteristics that return stream flows to compliant, stable flow conditions as required to meet the water-quality based Total Maximum Daily Load ("TMDL") requirements for a particular impaired waterway.
- "Impaired waterways" means rivers, lakes, or streams that do not meet one or more water-quality standards, and therefore, are considered too polluted for their intended uses.
- "Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System" and "MS4" shall mean a collection system or conveyance or system of conveyances (including roads with drainage systems, municipal streets, catch basins, curbs,

gutters, ditches, manmade channels, or storm drains): (i) owned or operated by the City of Essex Junction or another designated MS4 entity that discharges to surface waters or groundwater; (ii) designed or used for collecting or conveying or discharging stormwater and groundwater entering the system; (iii) which is not a combined sewer; and (iv) which is not part of a Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) as defined in 40 CFR, Section 122.2.

- "National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Stormwater Discharge Permit" shall mean a permit issued by the Environmental Protection Agency or the State of Vermont under authority delegated pursuant to 33 USC § 1342(b)) that authorizes the discharge of pollutants to waters of the United States, whether the permit is applicable on an individual, group, or general area-wide basis.
- "Non-impaired waterways" shall mean rivers, lakes, or streams that currently meet the designated water-quality standards for the waterbody.
- "Non-public contributing stormwater permittee" shall mean a current stormwater permit holder, including homeowner associations and any successors or assigns, of either a valid or expired stormwater permit that is not a public entity.
- "Non-public stormwater infrastructure" shall mean stormwater infrastructure not owned, operated, or maintained by the City.
- "Non- Structural BMPs" BMPs that use natural measures involving site characteristics to reduce the volume of stormwater or eliminate the source of the pollutant.
- "Parcel" and "Property" shall mean any lot, subdivided piece of land, unit of land, any subset of land, land owned in common, or a condominium unit or condominium association in the City of Essex Junction that could legally be sold as a separate entity as of January first of the year the fee is based on, and has a separate parcel identification number, map identification number or is identified as a separate parcel. Included in this definition are all roadways owned by the City, the State, and the Federal Government.
- "Private stormwater system owner" shall mean the non-public owner of a stormwater system, including homeowner associations and any successors or assigns, consisting of, but not limited to, culverts, pipes, catch basins, treatment ponds, treatment devices, and/or stormwater infiltration systems.
- "Public stormwater infrastructure" shall mean stormwater infrastructure such as, but not limited to, sewers, drains, culverts, pipes, catch basins, treatment ponds, treatment devices, and/or stormwater infiltration systems, all of which are under City ownership or within City easements, and which infrastructure has been accepted by the City as a component of the City stormwater system.
- "Residual Designation Authority (RDA)" shall mean the authority granted to the United States Environmental Protection Agency and delegated to the State of Vermont to issue a permit directly to a party or parties discharging stormwater to a waterbody that has a TMDL and where discharges are contributing to water quality violations.
- "Shared stormwater system" shall mean a stormwater system such as, but not limited to, culverts, pipes, catch basins, treatment ponds, treatment devices, sewers, drains, and/or stormwater infiltration systems that consist of both public and non-public stormwater infrastructure.
- "Stormwater" shall mean any surface flow, runoff, and drainage consisting entirely of water from any form of natural precipitation and resulting from such precipitation.

"Structural" BMPs are devices engineered and constructed to provide treatment and temporary storage of stormwater runoff.

- "Undeveloped Property" shall mean any property that exists in a natural state.
- "Unpermitted stormwater discharges" means a system discharging stormwater to a stream or watercourse that has never been issued any type of authorization to discharge stormwater by either the City or the State of Vermont.

"Valid stormwater system" shall mean a system that has been issued a stormwater permit by the City or the State of Vermont that is current concerning the issuance and expiration dates of the permit.

SECTION 1905. NPDES PHASE 2 MS4 REQUIREMENT FOR EXPIRED AUTHORIZATION TO DISCHARGE PERMITS

- A. The Vermont Agency of Natural Resources (VANR) Authorization to Discharge Permit Number 7024-9014 issued to the City under NPDES MS4 General Permit 3-9014 requires the City to submit to the Secretary of VANR a plan for addressing expired stormwater permits discharging to the MS4 permittee's system, which was accomplished through the proposed adoption of this Ordinance.
- B. A compliance date of October 2015 is set within the Authorization to Discharge Permits for verification of the condition of all public and non-public stormwater infrastructure identified in and approved under each original expired permit that was met.
- C. On expired permits within the impaired waterways or with regard to discharges that have no permits in the impaired waterways, it is the intent of the VANR to either have these permits ultimately come under the umbrella of the City MS4 Permit or issue Residual Designation Authority (RDA) permits directly to each permittee or party responsible for the stormwater discharge not covered under the MS4 umbrella permit.

SECTION 1906. CLASSIFICATION OF STORMWATER SYSTEMS WITHIN THE CITY AS RELATES TO AUTHORIZATION TO DISCHARGE PERMITS

Due to the complexity and variety of existing permit "ownership" and types of permits, the City has classified all valid stormwater system discharge permits and all expired stormwater permits into one of the following four types for purposes of determining permit responsibility:

1. **Type 1 Stormwater System** consists of a system of stormwater infrastructure that is entirely on public land (public rights of way, municipally-owned property, or on public stormwater easements) and owned by the City, including residential subdivisions or groups of houses with no non-public stormwater infrastructure, such as privately-owned catch basins or privately-owned stormwater pipelines connected into stormwater systems on public land (excluding private underdrain systems). For purposes of this Ordinance, a "private underdrain system" is stormwater infrastructure serving individual private lots or buildings from the private lot or building to the point of interconnection with public stormwater infrastructure.

- a. Examples of Type 1 stormwater systems include:
 - I. Public buildings such as municipal offices, police stations, fire stations, municipal highway garage complexes, schools, or other educational facilities with no on-site stormwater infrastructure (other than underdrains connected with public stormwater infrastructure) that do not discharge directly into a stream, and/or similar facilities.
 - II. Residential subdivisions with valid or expired permits in the City. Those residential subdivisions presently identified by the City as meeting the Type 1 criterion are listed in Table 1 in the Appendix to this Ordinance. Table 1 may be revised by the City, acting through its Municipal Manager or their designee(s) as such additional systems are identified.
- b. Type 1 stormwater systems do not include any private lot, residential subdivision, or groups of housing covered under an expired stormwater permit that has non-public stormwater infrastructure such as catch basins and pipelines (excluding private underdrain systems) connected to public stormwater infrastructure.
- 2. **Type 2 Stormwater System** consists of a system of stormwater infrastructure that is entirely contained on private property, discharges directly or indirectly to a stream or other recognized water body and is not directly connected by piping to a Type 1 or Type 3 stormwater system.
 - a. Examples of Type 2 stormwater systems include:
 - I. Private residential, commercial, or industrial systems that retain all stormwater flows onsite as originally designed and have valid or expired permits for such discharge, and private residential, commercial, or industrial systems that discharge some or all of their stormwater flows to a stream or other recognized water body.
 - II. Select stormwater systems in the City. Those private residential, commercial, or industrial systems presently identified by the City as meeting the Type 2 criterion are listed in Table 1 in the Appendix to this Ordinance. Table 1 may be revised by the City, acting through its Municipal Manager or their designee(s) as such additional systems are identified.
- 3. **Type 3 Stormwater System** consists of a shared stormwater system covered under either valid and/or expired stormwater permits that combines stormwater flow from both public and non-public stormwater infrastructure before discharging stormwater directly or indirectly into a stream, swale, or other method of water conveyance to waters of the State.
 - a. Examples of Type 3 stormwater systems include:
 - I. Non-public stormwater infrastructure systems that discharge directly to public stormwater infrastructure; public stormwater infrastructure systems that discharge to non-public stormwater infrastructure; public and non-public infrastructure systems that discharge to a common stormwater pond or open swale on public or private property or an outfall pipe leading to a stream, swale or other conveyance to a recognized water body; other systems that combine stormwater flow from both public and non-public stormwater infrastructure; prior valid stormwater

- permits involving both public and non-public components covered under one issued permit with responsibility defined in the permit between public and non-public contributors to a stormwater system.
- II. Those combined public-private systems in the City presently identified by the City as meeting the Type 3 criterion are listed in Table 1 in the Appendix to this Ordinance. Table 1 may be revised by the City, acting through its Municipal Manager or their designee(s) as such additional systems are identified.

4. Type 4 Stormwater System

- a. Any other type of stormwater system not covered under Types 1 through 3.
- b. Unique stormwater systems with valid or expired stormwater permits not included in Types 1 through 3 have not been identified as of the date of adoption of this Ordinance. This category is reserved for such systems.
- c. Stormwater systems involving both City and Vermont Agency of Transportation (VTRANS) infrastructure.
- d. Those combined public-private systems in the City that are identified by the City as meeting the Type 4 criterion will be listed in Table 1 in the Appendix to this Ordinance created by the City, acting through its Municipal Manager. Table 1 may be revised by the City, acting through its Municipal Manager or their designee(s) as additional systems are identified.

SECTION 1907. METHODOLOGY FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF PERMIT RESPONSIBILITY FOR EACH TYPE OF STORMWATER SYSTEM

- A. Type 1 Stormwater Systems
 - 1. The City accepts responsibility for all valid Type 1 stormwater system permits in the non-impaired waterways, all expired Type 1 stormwater system permits in the impaired waterways, and all future Type 1 stormwater system permits. These permits are consolidated under the City's NPDES MS4 General Permit 3-9014.
 - 2. The City accepts responsibility for the operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, and upgrade of all public stormwater infrastructure included in Type 1 stormwater systems, except for private underdrain systems and overland stormwater flow systems from private lands such as driveways, open swales, and vegetated land. Such private underdrain systems and overland flow systems shall remain the responsibility of the property owner.
 - 3. Acceptance of stormwater permit responsibility by the City does not relieve individual property owner(s) or housing and/or homeowner association(s), or any successor(s) and assign(s), from compliance with other sections of the City's stormwater ordinance or State environmental regulations, including but not limited to sections dealing with illicit discharges, offsite discharge of sediment, site erosion, fertilizer application with respect to phosphorous and overall compliance with best stormwater management practices as defined in adopted regulations or ordinances.

- B. Type 2 Stormwater Systems
 - 1. The City shall have no responsibility for the operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, or upgrade of non-public stormwater infrastructure identified in a valid or expired stormwater permit, or non-public stormwater infrastructure added subsequent to the original version of a valid or expired permit, to meet an approved Flow Restoration Plan (FRP) unless it is determined by the appropriate legislative body, in its sole discretion, to be in the City's best interests, as defined in Section 1907(B) above, to accept some or all of this responsibility.
 - 2. The City may accept MS4 permit responsibility for valid or expired Type 2 stormwater system permits if requested by the current private stormwater system owner provided the following conditions are satisfied:
 - a. The private stormwater system owner under an original valid or expired permit enters into a written agreement with the City, which includes, at a minimum, the requirements set forth in section 1907(B)(2)(b), below. A form of the Type 2 Stormwater System Agreement is provided in Appendix B of this Ordinance. If the private stormwater system owner has not entered into a written agreement with the City, the City will request the State to use its RDA to require permit compliance by the holder of the expired Type 2 stormwater permit.
 - b. The written agreement specified in section 1907(B)(2)(a) by and between the City and a private stormwater system owner shall, at a minimum, require the following:
 - i. All applicable permit fees, including initial fees and all future renewal fees, if any such fees are required, shall be paid by the Type 2 private stormwater system owner.
 - ii. The Type 2 private stormwater system owner shall allow the City to hire a professional engineer, at no cost to the City of the Type 2 stormwater permit, to inspect and certify that the Type 2 non-public stormwater infrastructure complies with the infrastructure requirements as contained in the expired permit. Alternatively, the current holder of the expired non-public stormwater permit may hire a professional engineer, acceptable to the City, to perform the necessary inspection and certification. Future inspections that occur after the initial certification inspection of Type 2 non-public stormwater infrastructure shall be conducted by the City at no charge to the private stormwater system owner.
 - iii. The Type 2 non-public contributing stormwater permittee shall correct any deficiencies noted as a result of the engineer's inspection at their own expense
 - iv. The Type 2 non-public contributing stormwater system permittee shall be responsible for permanent maintenance, repair, replacement, and upgrade, if necessary, of all elements covered under the Type 2 stormwater system permit. The City shall conduct annual system compliance inspections to verify the condition and maintenance of the

- Type 2 stormwater system and report findings, and the responsible party identified under the Type 2 stormwater system permit.
- v. The Type 2 non-public contributing stormwater system permittee shall sweep clean all paved private roadways or parking lots at least twice per year and clean out all private catch basins whenever the depth of deposited material exceeds 50% of the depth of the catch basin sump or enter into an agreement with the City to perform the services for a fee.
- vi. The failure of the Type 2 non-public contributing stormwater system permittee to perform the required actions under b. iv. and v. shall be deemed a violation of this Ordinance and shall subject the non-public contributing stormwater system permittee to penalties under Chapter 20 of the Municipal Code. The City has the right but not the obligation to take the necessary actions to ensure that the required maintenance is performed and otherwise correct any violation of this Ordinance.
- vii. The cost of required stormwater system upgrades to the Type 2 stormwater system to meet the City's adopted and State approved FRP shall be borne by the non-public contributing stormwater system permittee unless it is determined by the City to be in its best interests as defined in Section 1902(B) above to participate in some or all of the system upgrade project or project costs.
- 3. Any prior written agreements entered into by the City and non-public contributing stormwater system permittees shall remain in full force with respect to cost sharing and operation, maintenance, repair, and replacement of existing stormwater infrastructure.
 - a. Permit responsibility and upgrades to meet the FRP are separate elements of stormwater responsibility not defined in previous agreements, and therefore, this Ordinance is the controlling document relative to permitting.
 - b. In the event of any conflict between pre-existing agreements and the ordinance, the pre-existing agreements shall control.
- 4. Acceptance of partial stormwater permit responsibility by the City shall not relieve non-public contributing stormwater system permittees from compliance with all other elements of the stormwater ordinance or applicable State environmental regulations, including but not limited to sections dealing with illicit discharges, offsite discharge of sediment, site erosion, fertilizer application with respect to phosphorous and overall compliance with best stormwater management practices as defined in adopted regulations or ordinances.

C. Type 3 Stormwater Systems

- 1. The City will not accept responsibility for operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, and upgrade to meet an approved FRP of non-public stormwater infrastructure identified in a valid or expired stormwater permit or non-public stormwater infrastructure added subsequent to the original version of the valid or expired permit, unless it is determined by the City Council, in its sole discretion, to be in the best interests of the City, as defined in Section 1902(B) above, to accept some or all of this responsibility.
- 2. The City will accept MS4 permit responsibility on a proportional basis by relative impervious area contributed within the permitted area of the shared stormwater system for

the valid or expired Type 3 stormwater system permit if requested by the non-public contributing stormwater system permittee <u>and</u> provided the following conditions are satisfied:

- a. The Type 3 non-public contributing stormwater permittee shall enter into a written agreement with the City, which includes, at a minimum, the requirements set forth in Section 1907B)(2)(b)(i)-(vii) above. A form of the Type 3 Stormwater System Agreement is provided in Appendix C to this Ordinance. If the non-public contributing stormwater system permittee has not entered into a written agreement, the City will request the State to use its RDA to require permit compliance by the Type 3 non-public contributing stormwater system permittee.
- b. If the Type 3 non-public contributing stormwater system permittee elects not to enter into a shared agreement with the City on MS4 permit responsibility, the City shall comply with the requirements pertaining to the public stormwater infrastructure and may request the State to use its RDA over that portion of the shared stormwater system not included within an agreement with the City.
- c. All applicable permit fees, including initial fees and all future renewals, if such fees are required, shall be shared between the municipality and the non-public contributing stormwater permittee based on relative impervious area, unless the appropriate legislative body determines that it is in the City's best interests, as defined in Section1902(B)1902(B) above, that such fees shall be paid either on a larger percentage than relative impervious area or in full by the City. If the City accepts permit responsibility, then the intent is to consolidate the permit under the municipal NPDES MS4 General Permit 3-9014.
- 3. Any prior written agreements entered into by the City and the Type 3 non-public contributing stormwater system permittee shall remain in full force with respect to cost sharing and operation, maintenance, repair, and replacement of existing stormwater infrastructure.
 - a. Permit responsibilities and upgrades to meet the FRP are separate elements of stormwater responsibility not defined in previous agreements and therefore this Ordinance is the controlling document relative to these issues.
 - b. In the event of any conflict between executed pre-existing agreements and this Ordinance, the pre-existing agreements shall control.
- 4. Acceptance of MS4 Permit responsibility by the City does not relieve non-public contributing stormwater system permittees from compliance with other elements of the City's stormwater ordinance or State environmental regulations, including but not limited to sections dealing with illicit discharges, offsite discharge of sediment, site erosion, fertilizer application with respect to phosphorous and overall compliance with best stormwater management practices as defined in adopted regulations or ordinances.

- D. Type 4 Stormwater Systems
 - 1. Other stormwater systems with valid or expired stormwater permits that do not qualify as a Type 1, 2, or 3 stormwater system.
 - 2. These systems shall be managed on a case-by-case basis, using the general procedures and methods as applicable from the three system types described herein.
 - 3. Permits involving the City and VTRANS shall fall under this category. VTRANS is a separate MS4 permittee. Under a future adopted FRP for each impaired waterway, the City will negotiate an agreement with VTRANS on the level of shared responsibility and costs for meeting the TMDL requirement of each impaired waterway. In the event an agreement cannot be negotiated with VTRANS, the City will request VANR to use its RDA concerning those VTRANS direct or indirect discharges contributing stormwater flow to the impaired watersheds under the VTRANS MS4 permit.

SECTION 1908. PENALTY

Any person violating any of the provisions of Chapters 19-20 of the City of Essex Junction Municipal Code ("this Ordinance") shall be subject to a civil penalty of Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) for each violation. Each day that any violation of any of the provisions of this Ordinance or a permit issued hereunder continues shall constitute a separate offense. The City may recover all attorney's fees, court costs, and other expenses associated with the enforcement of this Ordinance including sampling and monitoring expenses.

APPENDIX A

Table 1: Expired and Valid Storm Water Permits in the City of Essex Junction as of the Date of Ordinance as amended 10/22/2024

Permit #	Project Name	Valid or Expired	Ordinance Type	Watershed
2-0855	Village Knoll-Woods End & Acorn	Valid	Type 1	Indian Brook
2-1103	Pleasant Street & East Street	Valid	Type 1	Indian Brook
1-1074	Countryside II Fairview Farms: Chestnut Lane	Valid	Type 2	Indian Brook
1-1074	Countryside II Fairview Farms: Spruce Lane	Valid	Type 2	Indian Brook
1-1074	Countryside II Fairview Farms: Walnut Lane	Valid	Type 2	Indian Brook
2-0835	Village Glen	Valid	Type 2	Indian Brook
1.1527.0111	Highland Village	Expired	Type 2	Sunderland Brook
1-0236	Brickyard	Valid	Type 2 & 3	Indian Brook
1-1074	Countryside II Fairview Farms: Locust Lane	Valid	Type 3	Indian Brook
2-0863	167 Pearl Street	Expired	TBD	Sunderland Brook

Appendix B

TYPE 2 STORMWATER SYSTEM AGREEMENT

This STORM WATER SYSTEM AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made this day of
20 by and between the [City of Essex Junction], a Vermont municipal corporation with a principal place of business at [City address] [2 Lincoln Street], Essex Junction, Vermont 05452 (the ["City"]), and with a principal place of business a ("Permittee"). The City and Permittee are
sometimes each referred to in this Agreement as a "Party" or collectively as the "Parties."
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the City has adopted Chapter 19 of the City of Essex Junction Municipal Code ("Chapter 19" entitled Establishing Stormwater Permit Transfer Authority for Expired and Unpermitted Discharges to Impaired Waterways Regulation of; and
WHEREAS, the Storm Water Ordinance amendment identifies the requirements under Section 1907(B necessary for the City to accept stormwater permit responsibility for a valid or expired Type 2 stormwater permit, as such type is defined in the Ordinance; and
WHEREAS, the Parties have identified that it is in their best interests to have the City accept stormwate permit responsibility by entering into this Agreement; and
WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the Parties to work together to achieve State of Vermont stormwater permit compliance; and
WHEREAS, the Parties agree that the City has no responsibility for the operation, maintenance, repair replacement, or upgrade of all non-public stormwater or stormwater—related infrastructure, or non-public stormwater infrastructure added to the original version of a valid or expired stormwater permit; and
WHEREAS, the City may in its sole discretion, if determined by the City Council to be in its best interests to accept some or all of the operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, or upgrade of all non-public stormwater or stormwater—related infrastructure, at some future date:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the matters described above, and of the mutual benefits and obligations set forth in this Agreement, and on the express condition that all conditions precedent described below are satisfied, the Parties agree as follows:

SECTION ONE

[CITY] OBLIGATIONS

The City agrees to accept full or shared permit responsibility for valid or expired storm water system permits as follows and also shall:

- 1. Hire a professional engineer, at no cost to the City, to inspect and certify that the Type 2 stormwater system, including but not limited to catch basins, storm pipes, and treatment facilities, is in compliance with the infrastructure requirements as contained in the expired permit, unless such work is undertaken at no cost to the City by Permittee.
- 2. Conduct future inspections that occur after the initial certification inspection of Type 2 stormwater systems at no charge to the Permittee.
- 3. Conduct annual system compliance inspections to verify the condition and maintenance of the Type 2 stormwater system and report findings to the State and the Permittee.
- 4. Inspect and prepare an annual structural condition survey and extent of debris capture in all catch basins contributing to stormwater flow within the permitted area.
- 5. At the request of the Permittee, arrange for cleaning of non-public catch basins, and to bill such cleaning costs to the Permittee.
- 6. Make best efforts to minimize the impact on the Permittee's property and their business operations thereon in performing its obligations under this Agreement.

SECTION TWO

PERMITTEE OBLIGATIONS

Permittee shall:

- 1. Accept all responsibility for the operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, or upgrade of non-public stormwater infrastructure identified in a valid or expired stormwater permit, or non-public stormwater infrastructure added subsequent to the original version of a valid or expired permit, to meet an approved Flow Restoration Plan (FRP) unless it is determined by the City Council, in its sole discretion, to be in the City's best interests, as defined in Section 1902(B) above, to accept some or all of this responsibility.
- 2. To pay all applicable permit fees, including initial fees and all future renewal fees, if any such fees are required of the Type 2 stormwater system.
- 3. Hire a professional engineer, at no cost to the City, to inspect and certify that the Type 2 stormwater system, including but not limited to catch basins, storm pipes, and treatment facilities, is in compliance with the infrastructure requirements as contained in the expired permit, unless Permittee requests such work be performed by the City and the City agrees.
- 4. Correct any deficiencies identified in the engineer's stormwater system inspection at their own expense prior to the date for system certification.

5. Maintain, repair, replace, and upgrade as necessary all stormwater infrastructure covered under the Type 2 stormwater system permit.

- 6. Sweep clean all paved private roadways or parking lots at least twice per year and clean out all private catch basins whenever the depth of deposited material exceeds 50% of the depth of the catch basin sump, or enter into an agreement with the City to perform the services for a fee.
- 7. Bear all costs of required stormwater system upgrades (if needed) to the Type 2 stormwater system to meet the City's adopted and State approved FRP unless it is determined by the City to be in its best interests as defined in Section 1902(B) of the Chapter 19 to participate in some or all of the system upgrade project or project costs.
- 8. Comply with all other elements of the stormwater Ordinance or other applicable State environmental regulations, including but not limited to sections dealing with illicit discharges, offsite discharge of sediment, site erosion, fertilizer application with respect to phosphorous and overall compliance with best stormwater management practices as defined in adopted regulations or ordinances.
- 9. Perform any necessary structural repairs to any non-public stormwater infrastructure beyond the annual routine maintenance within at least six (6) months of discovery of such needed structural repair or, if not repaired within six months of discovery, reimburse the City for all its costs for such catch basin repair plus a ten percent (10%) surcharge for associated administrative expenses relating to such repair.
- 10. Indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City and its officers, employees, agents, and representatives for and from any claims for liability and or damages arising out of the City's performance of the required annual operations and maintenance and required testing of the stormwater infrastructure, including all catch basins and pipes, that may occur on Permittee's property, except to the extent such claims (a) arise from the gross negligence or intentional misconduct of the City or its employees, agents or contractors.

SECTION THREE

MISCELLANEOUS

- 1. The City will notify the Permittee at such time as the FRP for the watershed in which the property lies is adopted as to any obligations of the Permittee to make on-site stormwater improvements as required under the FRP.
- 2. All payments required under this Agreement shall be due upon receipt of an invoice. Any payments not made within thirty (30) days of their due date shall accrue interest at a rate of one percent (1%) per month on the past due amount until paid in full.
- 3. The Parties covenant and agree that the conditions and obligations under this Agreement shall run with the land and shall accrue to the benefit of and be binding upon their respective successors and assigns as if they were parties to this Agreement. Any payments required under this Agreement not made when due shall constitute a lien on the property of the Party failing to make payment and shall be collectible in the same fashion as unpaid property taxes.

Essex Junction	Municipal Code

4. In the event a Party resorts to the judicial process to enforce another Party's obligations hereunder, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys' fees.

5. This Agreement shall be interpreted consistent with and governed by the laws of the State of Vermont.

6. This Agreement consists of the entire understanding between the Parties relative to its subject matter, and may not be modified orally, but only by a written instrument signed by all Parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused their corporate seal to be affixed hereto and these premises to be signed in its name and on its behalf by its duly authorized agent as of the day and date first written above.

			, VE	ERMONT
Witness	BY:		Duly Authorized Agent	_
Witness	BY:		Duly Authorized Agent	_
STATE OF VERMONT)	SS.	
COUNTY OF CHITTENDI	EN)		
At Essex Junction in	said Coun	ty this	day of	_, A.D.,, personally
appearedthis instrument, by him seale City of Essex Junction.	d and subs	_ duly scribed	authorized officer of to be his free act and deed	, and he acknowledged and the free act and deed of the
			Before me,	
			Notary Public	
			My Commission Expires	s:

Essex Junction			M	<u>unicipal Code</u>
STATE OF VERMONT)) SS	S.		
COUNTY OF CHITTENDEN)			
At Essex Junction in said appeared dacknowledged this instrument, by his act and deed of	m/her sealed an	d subscribed to be his	, A.D.,/her free act and d	, personally _, and he/she eed and the free
	No	otary Public		
	M	y Commission Expire	s:	

Appendix C

TYPE 3 STORMWATER SYSTEM AGREEMENT

This STORM WATER SYSTEM AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made this day of 20 by and between the [City of Essex Junction], a Vermont municipal corporation with a principal place of business at 2 Lincoln St Main Street, Essex Junction, Vermont 05452 (the ["City"]), and with a principal place of business at ("Permittee"). The City and Permittee are sometimes each referred to in this Agreement as a "Party" or collectively as the "Parties." (NOTE: May be multiple parties to sign)					
WITNESSETH:					
WHEREAS, the City has adopted Chapter 19 of the City of Essex Junction Municipal Code ("Chapter 19") entitled Establishing Stormwater Permit Transfer Authority for Expired and Unpermitted Discharges to Impaired Waterways; and					
WHEREAS, Chapter 19 identifies the requirements in Section 1907(B)(2)(b)(i)-(vii) necessary for the City to accept shared or full stormwater permit responsibility for a valid or expired Type 3 stormwater permit, as such type is defined in the Ordinance; and					
WHEREAS, Permittee (<i>NOTE: May be multiple parties</i>) has identified that it is in their best interests to have the City accept stormwater permit responsibility by entering into this Agreement; and					
WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the Parties to work together to achieve State of Vermont stormwate permit compliance; and					
WHEREAS, the Parties agree that the City has no responsibility for the operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, or upgrade of all non-public stormwater or stormwater-related infrastructure, or non-public stormwater infrastructure added to the original version of a valid or expired stormwater permit and shared responsibility on stormwater systems consisting of both public and non-public infrastructure; and					

WHEREAS, the City may in its sole discretion, if determined by the City Council to be in the City's best interests, to accept some or all of the operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, or upgrade of all non-

public stormwater or stormwater-related infrastructure, at some future date;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the matters described above, and of the mutual benefits and obligations set forth in this Agreement, and on the express condition that all conditions precedent described below are satisfied, the Parties agree as follows:

SECTION ONE.

CITY OBLIGATIONS

The City agrees to accept full or shared permit responsibility on a proportional basis by relative impervious area contributed by the public and non-public stormwater infrastructure within the permitted area for valid or expired stormwater system permits. The relative impervious area has been agreed as follows: City __%; Permittee __%. The City also shall:

- 1. Hire a professional engineer, at no cost to the Permittee, to inspect and certify that the Type 3 stormwater system, including but not limited to catch basins, storm pipes, and treatment facilities, is in compliance with the infrastructure requirements as contained in the expired permit, unless such work is undertaken at no cost to the City on non-public stormwater infrastructure by Permittee.
- 2. Conduct future inspections that occur after the initial certification inspection of Type 3 stormwater systems at no charge to the Permittee.
- 3. Conduct annual system compliance inspections to verify the condition and maintenance of the Type 3 stormwater system and report findings to the State and the Permittee.
- 4. Inspect and prepare a structural condition survey and extent of debris capture in all catch basins contributing to stormwater flow within the permitted area.
- 5. At the request of the Permittee, arrange for cleaning of non-public catch basins, and to bill such cleaning costs to the Permittee.
- 6. Make best efforts to minimize the impact on any Permittee's property and their business operations thereon in performing its obligations under this Agreement.

SECTION TWO

PERMITTEE OBLIGATIONS

Permittee (NOTE: May be multiple parties) shall:

7. Accept all responsibility for the operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, or upgrade of non-public stormwater infrastructure identified in a valid or expired stormwater permit, or non-public stormwater infrastructure added subsequent to the original version of a valid or expired permit, or their portion of a shared stormwater system to meet an approved Flow Restoration Plan (FRP) unless it is determined by the appropriate City Council, in its sole discretion, to be in the City's best interests, as defined in Section 1902(B) of the Chapter 19 to accept some or all of this responsibility.

8. Pay their proportionate share of all applicable permit fees, including initial fees and all future renewal fees, if any such fees are required by the Type 3 stormwater system.

- 9. Hire a professional engineer, at no cost to the City, to inspect and certify that the non-public or shared portion of Type 3 stormwater system, including but not limited to catch basins, storm pipes, and treatment facilities, is in compliance with the infrastructure requirements as contained in the expired permit, unless Permittee requests such work be performed by the City.
- 10. Correct any deficiencies on the non-public portion of the stormwater system identified by the engineer's stormwater system inspection at their own expense prior to the date for system certification.
- 11. Maintain, repair, replace, and upgrade as necessary all non-public stormwater infrastructure and share responsibility for portions of shared stormwater systems covered under the Type 3 stormwater system permit according to the percentages identified above.
- 12. Sweep clean all paved private roadways or parking lots at least twice per year and clean out all private catch basins whenever the depth of deposited material exceeds 50% of the depth of the catch basin sump on non-public private stormwater infrastructure or enter into an agreement with the City to perform such services for a fee.
- 13. Bear the cost of required stormwater system upgrades on non-public portions of the shared stormwater systems and to share in the costs of all shared elements of the stormwater system (if needed) to the Type 3 stormwater system to meet the City's adopted and State approved FRP according to the percentages identified above unless it is determined by the City to be in its best interests as defined in Section 1902(B) of Chapter 19 to participate in some or all of the system upgrade project or project costs.
- 14. Comply with all other elements of the stormwater Ordinance or other applicable State environmental regulations, including but not limited to sections dealing with illicit discharges, offsite discharge of sediment, site erosion, fertilizer application with respect to phosphorous and overall compliance with best stormwater management practices as defined in adopted regulations or ordinances.
- 15. Perform any necessary structural repairs to any non-public stormwater infrastructure beyond the annual routine maintenance within at least six (6) months of discovery of such needed structural repair or, if not repaired within six (months) of discovery, reimburse the City for all its costs for such catch basin repair plus a ten percent (10%) surcharge for associated administrative expenses relating to such repair; and share in such costs on shared elements of the stormwater system according to the percentages identified above.
- 16. To indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City and its officers, employees, agents, and representatives for and from any claims for liability and or damages arising out of the City's performance of the required annual operations and maintenance and required testing of the stormwater infrastructure, including all catch basins and pipes, that may occur on Permittee's property, except to the extent such claims (a) arise from the gross negligence or intentional misconduct of the City or its employees, agents or contractors.

SECTION THREE

MISCELLANEOUS

17. The City will notify the Permittee at such time as the FRP for the watershed in which the property lies is adopted as to any obligations of the Permittee to make on-site stormwater improvements as required under the FRP.

- 18. All payments required under this Agreement shall be due upon receipt of an invoice. Any payments not made within thirty (30) days of their due date shall accrue interest at a rate of one percent (1%) per month on the past due amount until paid in full.
- 19. The Parties covenant and agree that the conditions and obligations under this Agreement shall run with the land and shall accrue to the benefit of and be binding upon their respective successors and assigns as if they were parties to this Agreement. Any payments required under this Agreement not made when due shall constitute a lien on the property of the Party failing to make payment and shall be collectible in the same fashion as unpaid property taxes.
- 20. In the event a Party resorts to the judicial process to enforce another Party's obligations hereunder, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys' fees.
- 21. This Agreement shall be interpreted consistent with and governed by the laws of the State of Vermont.
- 22. This Agreement consists of the entire understanding between the Parties relative to its subject matter, and may not be modified orally, but only by a written instrument signed by all Parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused their corporate seal to be affixed hereto and these premises to be signed in its name and on its behalf by its duly authorized agent as of the day and date first written above.

	CITY OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VERMONT		
Witness	BY: Duly Authorized Agent		
	PERMITTEE		
Witness	BY:		

Essex Junction				Municipal Code
STATE OF VERMONT)) SS.			
COUNTY OF CHITTENDE	,			
At Essex Junction in	said County this _	day of	, A.D.,	, personally
appeared	duly authorize	d officer of	, and he ack	nowledged this
instrument, by him sealed and	d subscribed to be	his free act and o	leed and the free act	and deed of the City
of Essex Junction.				
		Before me,		
		Notary Public		_
		My Commission	n Expires:	

CITY OF ESSEX JUNCTION, VT MUNICIPAL CODE

CHAPTER 20 REGULATION OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

SECTION 2001. PURPOSE:

The purpose of this ordinance is to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the City of Essex Junction through the regulation of stormwater discharges to the Municipal Separate Storm Sewer (hereafter "MS4") as required by federal and state law and surface water in the City.

This includes:

- a) Adverse effects of erosion and stormwater discharge from new development and redevelopment
- b) Illicit discharges
- c) Impacts from impervious surfaces
- d) Adverse impacts on water quality
- e) Flood risk reduction

SECTION 2002. INTENT:

The intent of this ordinance is to allow no increase in stormwater runoff because of land development activity.

SECTION 2003. APPLICATION:

Any discharge of stormwater from developed property in the City shall be subject to the provisions of this division.

Required Approvals:

- a) No owner of Developed Property in the City shall change or alter, or allow to be changed or altered, the discharge of stormwater from such property without first obtaining a permit or approval required under this or any other City Ordinance, state law, or federal law. As used herein, change or alter shall mean an act done that will result in a direct or indirect impact on the contribution of stormwater into the Public Stormwater System.
- b) No unauthorized person shall uncover, make any connections with or opening into, use, alter, or disturb any public storm drain or appurtenance thereof.

SECTION 2004. RELATION TO OTHER ORDINANCES

If the provisions of these regulations conflict with the provisions of another valid and enforceable Ordinance(s), the stricter provisions shall prevail.

SECTION 2005. ADMINISTRATION

Except where specifically noted in this Ordinance, the Water Quality Superintendent shall administer, implement, and enforce the provisions of this Ordinance. The powers and duties granted to and held by the Water Quality Superintendent in Chapters 19-21 of the City of Essex Junction Municipal Code may be delegated by the Water Quality Superintendent, at the Superintendent's discretion, to another qualified employee of the City of Essex Junction if the delegation is deemed appropriate and necessary by the Superintendent to achieve the intent and purpose of these Chapters.

SECTION 2006. DOCUMENTS REFERENCED

1) City of Essex Junction Land Development Code Sections 512-514

SECTION 2007. DEFINITIONS

- "Authorization to Discharge Permits" shall mean permits issued by the State of Vermont to discharge stormwater into receiving water bodies, which may or may not be valid permits at the time of adoption of this Ordinance.
- "Best Management Practices" or "BMPs" shall mean any structural or non-structural site improvements recognized as the most effective and practical means to prevent and reduce stormwater volumes and flows to achieve water quality goals. BMPs include measures to prevent pollution and measures to mitigate pollution. BMPs include schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, pollution prevention, education practices, natural resource protection, maintenance and operating procedures, management and treatment practices, and measures to control site runoff, spills, or leaks and reduce pollution.
- "Construction" shall mean any clearing, grading, earthmoving, or excavating activity that results in land disturbance; the erection, placement, or assembly of any building or structure or additions thereto on any parcel; the moving and placement of any building, structure or materials onto any parcel.
- **"Department of Stormwater"** shall mean the employees, contractors, or designees of the City of Essex Junction Water Quality Superintendent.
- "Developed Property" shall mean any property that is altered from a natural state by construction, or installation of improvements such as buildings, structures, or other impervious surfaces.
- "Illicit Connections" shall mean any drain or conveyance, whether on the surface or subsurface which allows an illegal discharge to enter the MS4, including but not limited to any conveyances that allow any non-stormwater discharge including sewage, process wastewater, laundry, and wash water to enter the MS4, and any connections to the MS4, from indoor drains, and sinks regardless of whether said drain or connection had been previously allowed, permitted or approved by an authorized state agency or by the City.
- "Illicit Discharge" shall mean any direct or indirect non-stormwater discharge to the storm drain system.
- "Impaired waterways" means rivers, lakes, or streams that do not meet one or more water-quality standards, and therefore, are considered too polluted for their intended uses.

"Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System" and "MS4" shall mean a collection system or conveyance or system of conveyances (including roads with drainage systems, municipal streets, catch basins, curbs, gutters, ditches, manmade channels, or storm drains): (i) owned or operated by the City of Essex Junction or another designated MS4 entity that discharges to surface waters or groundwater; (ii) designed or used for collecting or conveying or discharging stormwater and groundwater entering the system; (iii) which is not a combined sewer; and (iv) which is not part of a Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) as defined in 40 CFR, Section 122.2.

- "National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Stormwater Discharge Permit" shall mean a permit issued by the Environmental Protection Agency or the State of Vermont under authority delegated pursuant to 33 USC § 1342(b)) that authorizes the discharge of pollutants to waters of the United States, whether the permit is applicable on an individual, group, or general area-wide basis.
- "Non-Stormwater Discharge" shall mean any discharge to the MS4 that is not composed entirely of stormwater.
- "Parcel" and "Property" shall mean any lot, subdivided piece of land, unit of land, any subset of land, land owned in common, or a condominium unit or condominium association in the City of Essex Junction that could legally be sold as a separate entity as of January first of the year the fee is based on, and has a separate parcel identification number, map identification number or is identified as a separate parcel. Included in this definition are all roadways owned by the City, the State, and the Federal Government.
- "Stormwater" shall mean any surface flow, runoff, and drainage consisting entirely of water from any form of natural precipitation and resulting from such precipitation.
- "Stormwater Runoff" shall mean flow on the surface of the ground, resulting from precipitation.
- "Stormwater Treatment Practice (STP)" shall mean measures, either structural or non-structural, that are determined to be the most effective, practical means of preventing or reducing point source or non-point source stormwater pollution inputs to stormwater runoff and water bodies.
- "Structural" BMPs are devices engineered and constructed to provide treatment and temporary storage of stormwater runoff.
- "Unpermitted stormwater discharges" means a system discharging stormwater to a stream or watercourse that has never been issued any type of authorization to discharge stormwater by either the City or the State of Vermont.
- "Water Quality Superintendent" shall mean the person who manages the stormwater and wastewater departments. Also referred to as the Superintendent in this document.

SECTION 2008. TECHNICAL REVIEW

In the event the Superintendent or Zoning Administrator finds, in the discharge of their duties under this Ordinance, that they require the assistance of qualified professionals in stormwater management, erosion control, engineering, or related fields to determine compliance with the provisions of this Ordinance, the Superintendent or Zoning Administrator, as applicable, may require an independent review of one or more aspects of a permit, plan or application, with the cost of the review to be paid by the applicant or permittee.

SECTION 2009, COMPLIANCE WITH EXISTING PERMITS

It shall be a violation of this Ordinance of any owner of Developed Property that is subject to any local, state, or federal permit requirements regarding the discharge of stormwater to fail to comply with such permit requirements.

SECTION 2010. WATERCOURSE PROTECTION

No person shall deposit or cause to be deposited in a watercourse or on the land impacted by runoff to the watercourse any trash, yard debris, or any other material that would pollute and adversely alter the natural flow of water through or can erode into the watercourse. In addition, the owner or lessee shall maintain existing privately owned structures within or adjacent to a watercourse so that such structures will not become a hazard to the use, function, or physical integrity of the watercourse. Natural riparian buffers and manmade watercourses established as part of a development and required by the City regulation shall be maintained.

SECTION 2011. PROHIBITION

- a) Under the authority set forth in 24 VSA Chapter 59 and 24 VSA § 2291 Subsection 14, it is hereby declared that it shall be a public nuisance for anyone to contribute pollutants, illegally connect, or illegally discharge into the Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4), or otherwise discharge non-stormwater discharges in violation of the requirements of this Ordinance.
- b) Illicit discharge-No person shall throw, deposit, or leave in or upon any premise, parcel, driveway, parking area, street, alley, sidewalk, stormwater systems or surface water in the City of Essex Junction, any object or material, including but not limited to refuse, rubbish, garbage, animal waste, litter, yard waste, or other abandoned objects, that may cause or contribute to pollution, or interfere with the operation, maintenance, and access to the MS4. Wastes deposited in streets in proper waste receptacles for the purposes of collection are exempt.
- c) Illicit connection- the construction, use, maintenance, or continued existence of illicit connections to the MS4 are prohibited. This prohibition expressly includes, without limitation, illicit connections made in the past, regardless of whether the connection was permissible under law or practices applicable or prevailing at the time of connection.
- d) The prohibition in this section shall not apply to any non-stormwater discharges permitted under the NPDES permit, waiver, or waste discharge order issued to the discharger and administered under the authority of the United States Environmental Protection Agency, provided that the discharger is in full compliance with all requirements of the permit, waiver or order and other applicable laws and regulations, and written approval must be granted for any discharge to the MS4 by the Water Quality Superintendent.
- e) The following discharges are exempt:
 - a. Water line flushing with De-chlorinated Water
 - b. Landscape irrigation

- c. Diverted stream flows
- d. Uncontaminated groundwater, either naturally rising or pumped
- e. Uncontaminated groundwater infiltration into stormwater drains
- f. Discharges from potable water sources
- g. Uncontaminated foundation drains
- h. Air conditioning condensate
- i. Irrigation water
- j. Springs
- k. Uncontaminated water from crawl space pumps
- 1. Uncontaminated water from footing drains
- m. Lawn watering
- n. Individual residential car washing
- o. Flows from riparian habitats and wetlands
- p. De-chlorinated swimming pool discharges
- q. Street wash water
- r. Discharges or flows from firefighting activities occurring during emergencies not involving hazardous materials or oil.
- s. Dye testing if approved by the City Engineer.

SECTION 2012. NOTIFICATION OF SPILLS

Property owners or citizens responsible for facility operation and management who know or suspect the release of materials that may result in an illegal discharge to the stormwater system must immediately notify proper emergency response agencies. Release of non-hazardous materials shall be notified to the Water Quality Superintendent, Public Works Superintendent, or their designee.

SECTION 2013. REQUIREMENT TO PREVENT, CONTROL, AND REDUCE STORMWATER POLLUTANTS BY USE OF BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES

Any person or entity owning, occupying, or having an interest in a property from which there has been an illicit discharge may be required to implement, at said person's or entity's expense, additional structural and non-structural BMPs to prevent the further discharge of pollutants to the MS4. Compliance with all terms and conditions of a valid NPDES permit authorizing discharge of stormwater associated with industrial activity to the extent practicable shall be deemed in compliance with the provisions of this Section.

SECTION 2014. POWER TO INSPECT

Duly authorized representatives of the City of Essex Junction shall be permitted to enter and inspect all properties subject to regulation under this Ordinance for the purposes of inspection, observation, measurement, sampling, and testing as often as needed to determine compliance. Authorized persons shall have the right to set up devices as necessary to conduct monitoring and or sampling of any regulated discharge from a property, Authorized persons may also examine and copy records of a property owner, agent, or manager that must be kept under the conditions of an NPDES permit to discharge stormwater.

SECTION 2015, OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE

All stormwater systems shall have a written, and approved, enforceable operation and maintenance agreement, duly recorded in the City land records with a copy sent to the Water Quality Superintendent, to ensure the system functions as designed. The maintenance agreement shall include a schedule for when and how often maintenance will occur and plans for annual inspections by a qualified individual to ensure proper performance of the facility between scheduled cleanouts. Where required, an annual report, which certifies the system has been inspected and maintained in accordance with submitted plans, must be submitted to the Water Quality Superintendent by September 1st of each year. City Staff may elect to audit some of the permits annually.

SECTION 2016. SUSPENSION

The City may, without notice, suspend MS4 discharge access to a person or entity when such suspension is necessary to stop an actual or threatened discharge that presents or may present danger to the environment, health, and welfare of the MS4.

SECTION 2017. ENFORCEMENT REMEDIES GENERALLY

An action, injunction, or other enforcement proceeding may be instituted in the Vermont Superior Court, Civil Division, by the City of Essex Junction to prevent restrain, correct, or abate any violation or activity causing a violation or threatening to cause. The relief sought may include the right to enter onto private property to abate or correct the violation, to restrain any activity that would create further or future threatened violations, or to compel a person or persons to perform abatement or remediation of the violation; and to seek fines, penalties or damages for all costs, including reasonable attorney's fees, incurred by the City of Essex Junction in pursuing and obtaining such relief. In addition to any other remedies authorized in law or equity, the City of Essex Junction may seek an order specifically requiring:

- a) The elimination of illicit connections and/or non-stormwater discharges to the MS4;
- b) The discontinuance of practices, activities, or operations that lead to violations of this Ordinance;
- c) The abatement or remediation of stormwater pollution or contamination hazards and the restoration of any affected property/parcel;
- d) The implementation of source control or treatment through the use of best management practices; the performance of monitoring, analysis, and reporting.

SECTION 2018. PENALTY

Any person violating any of the provisions of Chapters 19-20 of the City of Essex Junction Municipal Code ("this Ordinance") shall be subject to a civil penalty of Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) for each violation. Each day that any violation of any of the provisions of this Ordinance or a permit issued hereunder continues shall constitute a separate offense. The City may recover all attorney's fees, court costs, and other expenses associated with the enforcement of this Ordinance including sampling and monitoring expenses.

SECTION 2019. APPEALS TO CITY COUNCIL

Any interested person who believes that the staff has committed an error in making a decision or taking an action may appeal such act or decision to the City Council by filing a written Notice of Appeal with the City Clerk within 15 calendar days of the subject action or decision. The Notice of Appeal must identify the decision or action appealed from and identify the issues on appeal.

The Council shall conduct a duly warned Public Hearing. The Council shall take testimony and consider all relevant evidence before it and issue a written decision. A party aggrieved by a decision of the City Council may appeal the decision to the Vermont Superior Court, Civil Division, within 30 days of the date of the decision pursuant to Vermont Rule of Civil Procedure 75.

SECTION 2020. ULTIMATE RESPONSIBILITY

The standards set forth herein and promulgated pursuant to this Ordinance are minimum standards; therefore, this Ordinance does not intend nor imply that compliance by any Person will ensure that there will be no contamination, pollution, or unauthorized discharge or discharge of pollutants.

SECTION 2021. SEVERABILITY

The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be severable. If any provision, clause, sentence, or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person, establishment, or circumstances shall be held invalid, it shall not affect the validity or application of other provisions of this Ordinance.